

Effects of tillage and straw treatments on earthworm abundance

Study in two Swedish long-term field trials

Fredrik Ahlberg

Master's thesis • 30 credits Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, SLU Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences, Department of Soil and Environment Agriculture Programme – Soil and Plant Sciences Partnumber • 2023:05 Uppsala 2023

Effects of tillage and straw treatments on earthworm abundance. Study in two Swedish long-term field trials

Fredrik Ahlberg

Supervisor:	Elsa Arrazola Vasquez, Swedish University of Agriculture				
	Sciences, Department of Soil and Environment				
Assistant supervisor:	Hanna Sjulgård, Swedish University of Agriculture Sciences,				
	Department of Soil and Environment				
Assistant supervisor:	Thomas Keller, Swedish University of Agriculture Sciences,				
	Department of Soil and Environment				
Examiner:	Björn Lindahl, Swedish University of Agriculture Sciences,				
	Department of Soil and Environment				

Credits:	30 credits
Level:	Second cycle, A2E
Course title:	Master thesis in Biology
Course code:	EX0898
Programme/education:	Agriculture Programme – Soil and Plant Sciences
Course coordinating dept:	Department of Aquatic Science and Assessment
Place of publication:	Uppsala
Year of publication:	2023
Copyright:	All featured images are used with permission from the copyright owner.
Keywords:	anecic, conventional tillage, endogeic, no-tillage, reduced tillage

Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences

Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Department of Soil and Environment

Abstract

Earthworms have several functions in the soil, for instance redistribution of organic matter and enhancing plant available nutrients. Earthworms are divided into three ecological groups, with different functions in the soil. The groups are: anecic, endogeic and epigeic. Studies has shown that tillage practices effect the earthworms, where often reduced tillage increase earthworm abundance in comparison to inversion tillage. However, the ecological groups of earthworms respond different to tillage method, where endogeic earthworms are less effected, in comparison to the anecic earthworms, which are more sensitive to an intensive tillage.

The aim of this study was to compare tillage treatments (conventional tillage, reduced tillage, and no-tillage) and straw treatments (incorporated straw or removed straw) regarding the earthworm abundance, and their relationship to soil properties. Five treatments were included in this study; conventional tillage with straw removed or incorporated, reduced tillage with straw removed or incorporated and no-tillage. Earthworms and soil properties (aggregate stability, basal respiration, penetration resistance and carbon, nitrogen, and phosphorus content) were measured in two long-term field trials near Lanna experimental station, in Lidköping, Sweden.

The results showed that the abundance of earthworms in total and juveniles where highest in the no-tillage treatments, and conventional tillage showed the lowest abundance for earthworms in total and juveniles. Also, earthworm biomass where highest in the no-tillage treatments. The abundance of adult and endogeic earthworms was highest in reduced tillage with straw incorporated, between the four other treatments there was no difference for the abundance. We did not see any effect of straw treatment in conventional tillage and no-tillage, however, in reduced tillage the straw treatments influence the abundance of adult and endogeic earthworms. Our study indicates that there is no difference between no-tillage and conventional tillage regarding the endogeic and adult abundance, but regarding the total abundance no-tillage is more favourable. Among the soil properties, turbidity/aggregate stability and total soil carbon was for instance correlated with earthworm biomass, and abundance of total earthworms and juveniles.

Keywords: anecic, conventional tillage, endogeic, no-tillage, reduced tillage

Table of contents

List	of tables	7
List	of figures	8
1.	Introduction	9
1.1	Earthworms and soil properties	9
1.2	Ecological groups of earthworms	10
1.3	Tillage and earthworms	10
1.4	Organic matter and earthworms	11
1.5	Aim and research questions	12
2.	Materials and methods	13
2.1	Location and treatment description	13
2.2	Earthworm sampling	14
2.3	Soil moisture	15
2.4	Water holding capacity	16
2.5	C, N and P measurements	16
2.6	Basal respiration measurements	17
2.7	Aggregate stability	17
2.8	Penetrometer measurements	19
2.9	Statistical analysis	20
3.	Results	22
3.1	Earthworms in total and distribution of species and ecological groups	22
3.2	Tillage and straw treatments and earthworm presence	22
3.3	Effects and interaction between tillage and straw treatments	27
3.4	Correlation between soil properties and earthworms	
4.	Discussion	31
4.1	Effects of tillage and straw on earthworm presence	31
	4.1.1 Tillage management	31
	4.1.2 Straw treatment	33
4.2	Soil properties	34
	4.2.1 Penetration resistance	34
	4.2.2 Total carbon, nitrogen, and phosphorus content	35
	4.2.3 Basal respiration	

	4.2.4 Aggregate stability	36
5.	Conclusion	38
Refer	ences	39
Popu	lärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	43
Ackn	owledgements	45
Appe	ndix 1	46
Appe	ndix 2	47
Appe	ndix 3	49
Appe	ndix 4	50

List of tables

Table 1. Description of the management for the field trials	14
Table 2. Treatments in the study	20
Table 3. Treatments and presence of earthworms	23
Table 4. Effects of tillage and straw treatment	27
Table 5. Effects of single treatments on earthworm presence	29
Table 6. Correlation between earthworm presence and soil properties.	30

List of figures

Figure 1. Sampling of earthworms.	. 15
Figure 2. Turbidity measurement	. 18
Figure 3. Turbidity measurement.	. 19
Figure 4. Penetrometer measurement.	. 20
Figure 5. Earthworm biomass and the response to treatments	.23
Figure 6. Abundance of earthworms and the response to treatments	. 24
Figure 7. Abundance of juvenile earthworms and the response to treatments	.25
Figure 8. Abundance of adult earthworms and the response to treatments	.25
Figure 9. Abundance of endogeic earthworms and the response to treatments	.26
Figure 10. Abundance of anecic earthworms and the response to treatments.	.26

1. Introduction

1.1 Earthworms and soil properties

Earthworms have several functions in the soil, as they distribute and decompose crop residues from the surface to deeper layers, creating burrows, and the cast contains plant available nutrients (Edwards and Arancon 2022). Earthworms also have an important role for the soil fertility (Bhadauria & Saxena 2009). Soil fertility is correlated with soil organic matter and a decrease in soil organic matter will cause the fertility to decrease as well (Pulleman et al. 2005). Soil organic matter can be protected by the earthworm activity, because the earthworms create a stable microaggregate structure in the soil, and a stabile structure tends to protect the organic matter against decomposition (Pulleman et al. 2005). The storage of carbon have been shown to increase in water-stable aggregates >1mm with earthworm presence (Ketterings et al. 1997). In addition, a larger earthworm population can increase soil respiration, especially when organic fertilizers are applied, which may decrease the carbon storage in the soil (Schindler Wessells et al. 1997). The increased respiration is a result of increased microbial activity or a higher respiration by the earthworms (Schindler Wessells et al. 1997). Regarding soil nutrients, a meta-analysis done by van Groenigen et al. (2014) showed that the presence of earthworms seems to correlate with crop yield which can be increased by 25 %, which may be due to an increase in nitrogen mineralization. Another study showed that plant available nitrogen can be increased by earthworm activities, especially when inorganic fertilizer is applied (Bohlen & Edwards 1995). Moreover, earthworms casts have an important role, as it contains a higher amount of nutrients in comparison with the bulk soil, both macro- and micronutrients (Tomati & Galli 1995).

Earthworms also have an important role in improving the soil structure (Chan 2001). The soil structure can be enhanced by for instance the earthworm cast and the creation of burrows (Chan 2001). Earlier research have also shown that the amount of water-stable aggregates with >1 mm in diameter that can be increased by earthworm presence (Ketterings et al. 1997). Also, it has been showed that plant roots combined with earthworms in a soil increased the aggregate stability

compared to a soil with no plant roots, while presence of earthworms but without plant roots did not increase the aggregate stability (Fonte et al. 2012).

1.2 Ecological groups of earthworms

Earthworm species have different functions in the soil, through their movement patterns and food intake, therefore they can be divided into three ecological groups; anecic, endogeic and epigeic (Chan 2001). Epigeic earthworms have a fast growth rate and reproduction and can be found on the soil surface (Chan 2001), where they mostly feed on crop residues (Asshoff et al. 2010). Lumbricus rubellus and Lumbricus festivus are examples of epigeic earthworms (Sherlock 2012). Anecic earthworms feed on the organic matter at the soil surface and mix it in the mineral soil, where they often can be found (Chan 2001). The anecic earthworms create vertical burrows that are permanent and due to their movement and feeding behaviour, they translocate organic matter to the deeper soil layers and mineral soil are moved to the upper layers (Asshoff et al. 2010). For instance, Lumbricus terrestris, Lumbricus castaneus and Aporrectodea longa are examples of anecic earthworms (Sherlock 2012). Finally, endogeic earthworms mostly feed on mineral soil with humus content (Chan 2001) and create horizontal burrows that are not permanent (Asshoff et al. 2010). Some common endogeic species are Allolobophora cholorotica, Aporrectodea rosea, Aporrectodea caliginosa. (Sherlock 2012) and Aporrectodea tuberculata (Hale 2013). In Sweden, earthworm species like L. castaneus, L. terrestris, A. longa, A. cholorotica, A. caliginosa, A. rosea and A. tuberculata can be found (Torppa & Taylor 2022).

1.3 Tillage and earthworms

In this study, three tillage systems will be analysed, which are no-tillage, reduced tillage, and conventional tillage. No-tillage practices can be classified by direct drilling without any tillage before seeding (Lal 2013). Conventional tillage means that the soil is inversed and the tillage is often intensive (Jaleta et al. 2019). Reduced tillage is often classified where the intensity of tillage is reduced (Jaleta et al. 2019).

From previous research, there are several examples of how earthworms are affected by different tillage methods, and evidence that ecological groups respond differently to these practises. Epigeic and anecic species seem to be more negatively affected by more intensive tillage in comparison to the endogeic species (Briones & Schmidt 2017), while endogeic species seems to be less impacted by conventional tillage (Wyss & Glasstetter 1992; Briones & Schmidt 2017). Torppa & Taylor (2022) showed that the abundance of the endogeic earthworms was not varying between tillage methods (conventional, reduced and no-tillage), while the

anecic earthworm abundance was higher in the no-tillage practices (Torppa & Taylor 2022). In addition, according to Briones & Schmidt (2017), earthworm populations are decreasing with more intensive tillage. Tillage methods such as direct drilling have been shown to be more friendly for earthworms, in comparison to conventional tillage (Briones & Schmidt 2017). Results from a field trial showed that direct drilling practices favoured a higher amount of earthworms in comparison to conventional tillage in 8 of 14 sites, but the results also showed the opposite in some sites, where there was no difference or the amount of earthworms was higher in the conventional tilled plots (Kladivko et al. 1997). Another field trial experiment, showed that no-tillage practises had a larger earthworm population compared to reduced and conventional tillage (Eriksen-Hamel et al. 2009). In contrast, there is also studies showing no difference in total earthworm abundance between different tillage systems when they compared reduced and conventional tillage and no-till (Torppa & Taylor 2022). However, the earthworm community can have the capacity to be adapted to different tilled systems (Briones & Schmidt 2017). In Sweden, Boström (1995) showed that earthworms can recover one year after intensive tillage, where a rotary cultivator and a plough was used. In another study, Carter (1988) compared direct drilling and ploughing and showed that during the first year the earthworm population was higher in the direct drilling treatment, but after three years there was no significant difference between direct drilling and ploughing.

The impact on earthworms by different tillage methods mostly depends on the mechanical damage, caused by for instance a plough. Earthworms are also affected by changes in the physical and biological conditions in the soil, due to changes in temperature and the placement of crop residues when tillage is used (Chan 2001).

1.4 Organic matter and earthworms

Crop residue input can have an effect on the abundance of earthworms, but the placement of crop residues have been shown to be less important than the amount of crop residues (Frazão et al. 2019). A study in Sweden, conducted in a crop rotation with wheat, legumes and oil seed rape, showed that the total earthworm abundance increased in a more diverse crop rotation when they compared it to a crop rotation consisting only of wheat and barley (Torppa & Taylor 2022). Food supply may support the earthworm population. For instance, more earthworms were found in fields where wheat was direct drilled in a lay of white clover compared to direct drilled wheat and wheat drilled on ploughed soil (Schmidt et al. 2003). Meanwhile, no effect on the earthworms was found between direct-drilled wheat and conventional tilled wheat (Schmidt et al. 2003). In contrast, a study by Eriksen-Hamel et al. (2009) showed that the earthworm population was not affected by the input of residues. Also, a comparison between burned straw and chopped and

spread straw showed that the total earthworm amount is not affected by straw treatment, but the number of *L. terrestris* was for instance higher in the treatment with spread straw (Barnes & Ellis 1979). In addition, Nuutinen (1992) found that leaving the straw may have a positive effect on earthworm biomass, especially on *L. terrestris*. Earthworms feed on organic matter (Chan 2001) and it seems that earthworms prefer organic materials with a high amount of nitrogen (Ketterings et al. 1997). Another study showed that organic fertilizers, such as sewage sludge, have a positive effect on earthworm abundance compared to inorganic fertilizers, where sludge high in nitrogen seems to be favourable (Emmerling & Paulsch 2001).

1.5 Aim and research questions

This study aimed to compare different tillage methods (no-tillage, reduced tillage, and conventional tillage) and crop residue treatments (incorporation or removal of crop residues) and how it affects the presence of earthworms. The presence of earthworms was also connected to different soil properties. As earthworms have an important role in soil functions (Edwards & Arancon 2022) it is important to study how earthworms are affected by tillage practices. The following research questions were addressed in this study:

- How are earthworm abundance and biomass affected by different tillage methods (no-tillage, reduced tillage, and conventional tillage)?
- How are earthworm abundance and biomass affected by different crop residue treatments (incorporation or removal of crop residues)?
- How are the ecological groups of earthworms affected by different tillage systems and crop residue treatments?
- Is there any correlation between the presence of earthworms and soil properties (basal respiration, aggregate stability, penetration resistance and amount of carbon, nitrogen, and phosphorus in the soil)?

2. Materials and methods

2.1 Location and treatment description

The long-term field experiments used in this study, R2-4010 and R2-4017, are located at two different fields near Lanna experimental station, in Lidköping, Sweden. The soil of the two fields is classified as silty clay. All sample collection and measurements in field was conducted at the beginning of October 2022 and the fields were not tilled after the harvest at that time. The field experiment R2-4010 started in 1974 and has six different treatments with four blocks/replicates and in this study, four of the treatments were sampled (A1, A2, C1 and C2). The field experiment has three different tillage management methods in combination with two different straw treatments (Table 1). The whole experiment, if possible, is being stubble cultivated with different equipment after the harvest. In the last years a Väderstad Carrier has been used for stubble cultivation and the seed bed preparation was conducted by harrowing. The sowing machine was a Väderstad Rapid. The crop rotation was dominated by cereals, mostly oat and winter wheat and the crop of 2022 was spring barley.

The field experiment R2-4017 started in 1982 and has 12 different treatments in two blocks/replicates and in this study, six of them were sampled (A3, A4, C1, C2, C3 and C4). In this field experiment there are three different tillage treatments in combination with four different straw/tillage treatments (Table 1). The stubble cultivation, in the tilled plots, is conducted with different equipment, and the last year a Väderstad Carrier has been used. The sowing machine was a Väderstad Rapid. Treatments A3, A4, C3 and C4 are being stubble cultivated after the harvest and in treatments C1 and C2 there is no cultivation after harvest. The seed bed preparation in the tilled plots is conducted by harrowing. The crop rotation is dominated by cereals, mostly oat and winter wheat and the crop of 2022 was oat. Treatments C1 and C2 in R2-4010 because they are stubble cultivated after the harvest A1 and A2 in R2-4010 because they are stubble cultivated after the harvest and the negative of the stubble cultivated after the harvest.

In the following part, the treatment names Ct-Sr, Ct-Si, Rt-Sr, Rt-Si and notillage will be used. Ct respectively Rt is conventional tillage (ploughing) respectively reduced tillage (stubble cultivation), Sr respectively Si is straw removed respectively straw incorporated and no-tillage is direct drilling.

Field trial	Treatment	Management
R2-4010	А	Ploughing every year
R2-4010	В	Ploughing some years
R2-4010	С	No ploughing
R2-4010	1	Straw removed
R2-4010	2	Straw incorporated
R2-4017	А	Ploughing
R2-4017	В	Direct drilling, ploughing some years
R2-4017	С	Direct drilling
R2-4017	1	Straw incorporated
R2-4017	2	Straw removed
R2-4017	3	Straw removed and stubble cultivation
R2-4017	4	Straw incorporated and stubble cultivation

Table 1. A description of the management for R2-4010 and R2-4017, where the letters represent the tillage system and the numbers the straw system.

2.2 Earthworm sampling

The earthworm sampling was conducted by digging a 30 * 30 cm hole, with a depth of 20 cm. For each plot, there were three replicates, and the holes were distributed in a line from edge to edge, in the middle of the plot. The soil that was dug up was placed in a plastic bag and was hand sorted to find earthworms (Figure 1). In the soil pit after the soil was removed, 2 L of a mustard mix was poured to get the earthworms up from the deeper layers. The mustard mix was prepared by using 10 g of mustard powder (Coleman's Mustard) per litre of water. The mustard mix was left to infiltrate for 20 minutes, after that it was searched for earthworms (Figure 1). All earthworms from the same plot were collected in a jar. Later, the earthworms were cleaned with water and the biomass (of all the worms found per replicate/plot) was measured. For species identification, earthworms were preserved in jars in ethanol (80%). In the lab, the earthworms were counted and divided into juveniles and adults. The adult species were determined using different earthworm keys (Andersen 1997; Sherlock 2012; Hale 2013) and loupe, WILD MZ8 (Leica, Germany). The number of earthworms was then calculated to obtain the density/abundance of earthworms (individuals./m²).



Figure 1. The left picture shows how the earthworm measurements were conducted and the right picture shows the hole after the mustard mix was poured, with some earthworms coming up from the deeper soil layer.

2.3 Soil moisture

The soil was collected using a soil probe, which was hammered down in the soil to a 40 cm depth. The soil from the soil probe was divided into four depths, 0 to 10, 10 to 20, 20 to 30 and 30 to 40 centimetres. The soil measurements were taken close to the earthworm holes and two replicates per plot were conducted. The soil was collected in airtight plastic bags to avoid evaporation. The bags were stored in a cold room at 3 °C. When measuring the soil moisture in the lab, the plastic bags were kneaded to get the water from the inside of the bags to the soil. After that, the soil was placed in aluminium containers and the wet weight of the soil was recorded. All aluminium containers were placed in a dry oven with a temperature of 105 °C for 24 h. After 24 h, the soil dry weight was recorded (including the aluminium container). The soil dry weight was calculated as follows:

 $W_1 - W_2 = W_3$ $(W_3 \div W_1) \times 100 = \%$ water

Where W_1 respectively W_2 is the weight of wet soil respectively dry soil and W_3 is the weight of water.

2.4 Water holding capacity

In the lab the water holding capacity (WHC) was measured for each plot, and two replicates per plot were used. In total, 60 samples were prepared, 56 with 0-2 mm sieved soil and 4 controls without soil. For this, the filter paper was folded and put into a funnel that was placed in a bottle. Then, between 5 to 10 g of soil was added to each filter and deionized water was poured, even for the controls, until the soil was completely covered with water. At the bottom of each funnel, Parafilm was used to prevent water from leaching. After preparing all samples and adding the water, Parafilm was put on the funnel to avoid evaporation. After approximately 2 hours, the Parafilm from the bottom of the funnels were removed. After being drained over a night, the wet soil including the filter paper was weighed, as well as the controls. The weight of the dry soil, wet soil and wet filter paper was used to calculate the water-holding capacity.

The WHC was calculated according to the following formula:

$$W_1 - W_2 = W_3$$
$$W_3 - W_4 = W_5$$
$$W_5 \div W_3 = WHC$$

Where W_1 is the wet weight of soil and filter paper and W_2 is the average weight of four wet filter papers. W_3 respectively W_4 is the weight of wet soil respectively dry soil and W_5 is the weight of water. WHC is 100 % water-holding capacity. An average of the two replicates was taken to establish an approximation of WHC. The measurements of WHC were conducted to obtain information on an estimate of how much water to add to the soil used for the basal respiration measurements. For the incubation of the basal respiration samples deionized water was added to the soil to obtain 60 % of the WHC.

2.5 C, N and P measurements

For the carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus sampling a soil probe was hammered 20 centimetres down in the soil. Three replicates per plot were done and the samplings were conducted in field in connection to the earthworm sampling. The soil was collected in bags. At SLU Ultuna, the soil was air dried at a temperature of 34 °C in aluminium containers. After approximately 5 days, the dry soil was sieved to 0-2 mm particle size. The samples were sent to The Soil and Plant Laboratory at SLU to analyse total carbon (C), total nitrogen (N) and total phosphorus (P) content in the soil. The carbon and nitrogen of the soil sampled were measured by dry combustion on a TruMac CN (LECO Corp, USA) and the phosphorus was determined by using an ICP-AVIO 200 (PerkinElmer, USA).

2.6 Basal respiration measurements

In this study, for soil basal respiration measurements a respirometer (Respicond 96) was used. The respirometer is an automatic system that measures produced CO_2 every hour and consists of 95 jars, placed in a water bath with a temperature of 20 °C. Each lid has a conductivity cell with two platinum electrodes. In the conductivity cell, 10 ml of 0.3 M potassium hydroxide (KOH) was placed. The KOH captures produced CO_2 , which leads to hydroxide ions being consumed and carbonate ions being produced. When carbonate ions are produced the conductivity decreases and the respirometer measures the changes in conductivity which is a measure of respiration (Nordgren 1988).

For the basal respiration measurements, the soil samples were taken from approximately 20 centimetres depth and soil from the whole depth was collected and placed in labelled plastic bags. Three replicates per plot were used and the samplings were conducted in field in connection to the earthworm sampling. At the lab, the bags were air dried at a temperature of 34 °C and after approximately 7 days the soil was sieved to 2 mm. Before measuring the basal respiration, the samples were pre-incubated for 7 days in a growth chamber, SED-41 (Percival, USA) at a temperature of 20 °C. Three replicates per plot were prepared, having a total of 84 samples and three controls, without any soil. In each jar, 20 g of soil was added, as well as deionized water to obtain approximately 60 % WHC. After the water was added, each bottle was covered with Parafilm to prevent evapotranspiration and placed in the growth chamber. One week after the preincubation the samples were placed in the respirometer. Before the start of the basal respiration measurements, 0.3 M KOH solution was prepared and added to the respirometer cells. After all jars were placed in the respirometer, the measurement started and the mg CO₂/h was measured for 7 days, but only the last four days of data were used due to the higher influence of CO₂ from the air during the first days. The mean value of the three controls was subtracted from the mean value for the last four days, and then calculated to obtain mg CO₂/h per 100 g soil, this measure was later used in the statistical analysis.

2.7 Aggregate stability

For the aggregate stability/turbidity measurements, the soil was collected between 0-20 centimetres depth with a spade. Soil close to the spade was not collected, due to the risk of destroyed aggregates. Also, the first soil layer, including plant residues, was not collected. Three replicates per plot were conducted and the samplings were conducted in field in connection to the earthworm sampling. The soil was collected and stored in a cold room at 3 °C. At the lab, the fresh soil from the jars was sieved by hand, by using two sizes of sieves, 1 and 8 mm and the soil

fraction between 1 and 8 mm was used in the measurement. In addition, "rainwater" was prepared by using deionized water mixed with a small amount of tap water, with an electrical conductivity between 5 and 10 µS/cm which was measured by a conductivity meter, Cond 3310 (WTW GmbH, Germany). Approximately 7 g soil (+/-0.05 g) of the sieved soil was placed in six containers with a strainer at the bottom, of the wet sieving apparatus (Royal Eijelkamp Company, Netherlands), (Figure 2). Then on six metallic containers, 70 ml of rainwater was poured, and the containers were placed in the wet sieving machine. The containers with soil were placed above the containers with rainwater. When the rainwater and soil were prepared, the wet sieving machine was turned on and it was running for 6 minutes, during that time the soil was "wetted". After 6 minutes the plate was raised above the water and the containers with soil were laid on an angle so the water would drain from the soil, into the containers with rainwater. All containers with rainwater were poured into 250 ml jars. From the initial 6 samples, the filtrated water from 2 samples was placed in a jar, creating 3 subsamples per plot. All the jars were filled with additional rainwater to reach the 250 ml level and stored in a cold room at 3 °C.



Figure 2. The picture shows the wet sieving apparatus with the containers containing soil above the metal containers containing rainwater.

The turbidity was measured using a turbidimeter TL2300, (HACH, USA), (Figure 3). The turbidimeter was turned on and the jars were taken out from the cold room an hour before measuring. Before each measurement, the jars were shaken and approximately 30 ml water from the jar was pipetted and poured into a glass

cylinder. The glass cylinder was placed in the turbidimeter, and the first turbidity was measured (Tub 1), where for instance clay and smaller aggregates are shown in the measurement (Sheldrick & Wang, 1993 see Bölscher et al. 2021). All jars were placed on a table and left undisturbed for 4.5 hours. After 4.5 hours, the second measurement was conducted (Tub 2), following the procedure previously explained, where particles of clay are shown in the measurement (Sheldrick & Wang, 1993 see Bölscher et al. 2021). For the statistical analysis one mean value was used from the replicates.



Figure 3. A picture of the turbidimeter, where the glass cylinder was placed below the black lid on the turbidimeter. The samples were in the bottles to the left.

2.8 Penetrometer measurements

The penetration resistance was measured using an electronic penetrometer, of the brand Eijelkamp (Royal Eijelkamp Company, Netherlands), the cone at the penetrometer had an angle of 60° and the base area was 1 cm². The penetrometer was pressed down by hand vertically 40 centimetres into the soil (Figure 4) at five locations in each plot by the same person during all measurements. The measurements were conducted in field in connection to the earthworm sampling. The data of the penetration resistance was registered in the penetrometer and was later downloaded to a computer. A mean value for the profile 1-10 cm (PR 1-10) and 11-20 cm (PR 11-20) were calculated and used for the analysis.



Figure 4. The penetrometer was pushed down vertically in the soil.

2.9 Statistical analysis

For the statistical analysis, treatments from R2-4010 and R2-4017 that had similar management were grouped into one treatment (Table 2). The no-tillage treatments C1 and C2 in R2-4017 are used because they are not disturbed by tillage. The conventional tilled treatments (ploughing) are named by Ct, the reduced tilled treatments (stubble cultivation) by Rt, and when the straw is removed or incorporated the treatment is named by Sr respectively Si. Only in table 4 and 5 the no-tillage treatments are separated by straw treatment.

, 0 1 0			
Treatment	R2-4010	R2-4017	Description
Ct-Sr	A1	A3	Conventional tillage, straw removed
Ct-Si	A2	A4	Conventional tillage, straw incorporated
Rt-Sr	C1	C3	Reduced tillage, straw removed
Rt-Si	C2	C4	Reduced tillage, straw incorporated
No-tillage		C1 & C2	No tillage

Table 2. A description over how the treatments in respectively field experiment (R2-4010 & R2-4017) was grouped together into one treatment.

For the statistical analysis, RStudio (R version 4.2.2) was used, and the normality test was conducted by using Shapiro-Wilk test. The data from basal respiration measurements were not normal distributed, and therefore were Log-transformed. All data was analysed by a one-way ANOVA and the significant data was analysed by a Post-hoc LSD test. When analysing the effects of tillage and straw treatment

on earthworm presence, a two-way ANOVA was used, followed with a Post-hoc test. No-tillage was also separated by straw treatment, incorporated, or removed when analysing the effects of tillage and straw treatment (Table 4 and 5). However, for this thesis, the no-tillage results in Table 5 are not discussed in depth as there are not enough replicates to provide an appropriate conclusion. Pearson correlation test was used to analyse the correlations between the biomass and abundance of earthworms in total, adults, juveniles and endogeic to the penetration resistance, turbidity, basal respiration and carbon, nitrogen, and phosphorous content. No separate statistical analysis was performed on anecic and epigeic earthworms because the data and transformed version of the data (rot/cubrot) were not normally distributed.

3. Results

3.1 Earthworms in total and distribution of species and ecological groups

In this study, 1001 earthworms were found and 316 of them were adults. Of the adults, seven different species were identified and those belonged to the three ecological groups. In the anecic group, 24 earthworms were found, belonging to one species, *L. terrestris* (Linnaeus 1758). In comparison, for the endogeic group, 286 earthworms were found, *A. caliginosa* (Savigny 1826) was the most common species in the group with a total of 221 individuals. The other species from the endogeic group were *A. tuberculata* (Eisen 1874) *A. rosea* (Savigny 1826) and *A. chlorotica* (Savigny 1826). Only six earthworms, belonging to the epigeic group were found and the species in that group were *L. Rubellus* (Hoffmesiter 1845) and *L. festivus* (Savigny 1826).

3.2 Tillage and straw treatments and earthworm presence

The effects of tillage and straw treatments on the presence of earthworms are shown in Table 3. For all earthworm measurements, there were significant (P<0.05) differences between treatments of earthworm biomass, abundance of the total earthworm presence (ind./m²), abundance of adult and juvenile (ind./m²) and for endogeic earthworm abundance (ind./m²) (Table 3).

(maintainais per m)				
Measurement	Df	F-value	P-value	
Earthworm biomass (g)	4	18.356	< 0.050	
Earthworm abundance (ind./m ²)	4	24.092	< 0.050	
Adult abundance (ind./m ²)	4	13.503	< 0.050	
Juvenile abundance (ind./m ²)	4	27.498	< 0.050	
Endogeic abundance (ind./m ²)	4	12.581	< 0.050	

Table 3. Treatments (Ct-Sr, Ct-Si, Rt-Sr, Rt-Si and no-tillage) and earthworm presence. The measurements include: the biomass of earthworms (g), total earthworm abundance (individuals per m^2), adult and juvenile abundance (individuals per m^2), and endogeic earthworm abundance (individuals per m^2)

The average biomass varied from approximately 5 to 40 grams and no-tillage has the highest biomass of earthworms (Figure 5). The results show a significant difference in biomass between no-tillage and treatments Ct-Sr, Ct-Si, Rt-Sr and Rt-Si. Treatment Rt-Si has the second highest earthworm biomass and treatment Ct-Sr and Ct-Si did not differ from each other in biomass. The mean abundance of earthworms in total varied from approximately 60 ind./m² to 260 ind./m² (Figure 6) where no-tillage has the significantly highest abundance of earthworms. Treatments Ct-Sr and Ct-Si did not differ from each other in abundance, and they have the lowest abundance in comparison to the other treatments. Treatment Rt-Si has the second highest abundance.



Figure 5. Mean value over the earthworm biomass in the five different treatments, where Ct is conventional tillage, Rt is reduced tillage, Sr is straw removed and Si is straw incorporated. The error bars show the standard deviation and bars with different letters have statistical differences. P < 0.05.



Figure 6. Mean abundance of earthworms in the five different treatments, where Ct is conventional tillage, Rt is reduced tillage, Sr is straw removed and Si is straw incorporated. The error bars show the standard deviation and bars with different letters have statistical differences. P < 0.05.

The abundance of juveniles varied from approximately 40 ind./m² to 220 ind./m² (Figure 7), where no-tillage has the highest abundance, while treatments Ct-Sr and Ct-Si have the lowest abundance. There is no significant difference in abundance between treatments Rt-Sr and Rt-Si, but the treatments have a significant difference in abundance between treatments Ct-Sr and Ct-Si and no-tillage. The adult abundance varied from approximately 20 ind./m² to 80 ind./m² (Figure 8), and in comparison, to e.g., total earthworm abundance no-tillage did not have the highest abundance. Treatment Ct-Sr, Ct-Si, Rt-Sr and no-tillage have no significant difference from each other in abundance, whereas treatment Rt-Si has the statistically highest abundance.



Figure 7. Mean abundance of juveniles (individuals/ m^2) in the five different treatments, where Ct is conventional tillage, Rt is reduced tillage, Sr is straw removed and Si is straw incorporated. The error bars show the standard deviation and bars with different letters have statistical differences. P < 0.05.



Figure 8. Mean abundance of adult earthworms (individuals/ m^2) in the five different treatments, where Ct is conventional tillage, Rt is reduced tillage, Sr is straw removed and Si is straw incorporated. The error bars show the standard deviation and bars with different letters have statistical differences. P < 0.05.

The abundance of endogeic earthworms varied from approximately 20 ind./m² to 80 ind./m^2 (Figure 9). It follows the same trend as the abundance of adults, where treatment Rt-Si has the highest abundance, while treatment Ct-Sr, Ct-Si, Rt-Sr and no-tillage did not differ from each other and showing a lower abundance than treatment Rt-Si.





Figure 9. Mean abundance of endogeic earthworms (individuals/ m^2) in the five different treatments, where Ct is conventional tillage, Rt is reduced tillage, Sr is straw removed and Si is straw incorporated. The error bars show the standard deviation and bars with different letters have statistical differences. P<0.05.



Figure 10. Mean abundance of anecic earthworms (individuals/ m^2) in the five different treatments, where Ct is conventional tillage, Rt is reduced tillage, Sr is straw removed and Si is straw incorporated. The error bars show the standard deviation. No statistical analysis was performed.

3.3 Effects and interaction between tillage and straw treatments

Our results show differences between treatments on earthworm biomass and abundance. To further understand these effects, we analysed the individual and interaction effects of tillage and straw management on these parameters (Table 4). Our results show that tillage and straw treatment have significant effects on adult abundance and endogeic abundance (P<0.05) and there is also an interaction effect (P<0.05). In contrast, the earthworm biomass, earthworm abundance and juvenile abundance show only effects of the tillage treatment (P<0.05), but no effect of straw treatment.

Measurement	F-value	P-value	
Earthworm biomass	_		
Straw	2.006	0.171	
Tillage	31.769	<0.050	
Tillage:Straw	2.326	0.121	
Earthworm abundance	_		
Straw	3.381	0.080	
Tillage	32.936	<0.050	
Tillage:Straw	1.434	0.260	
Adult abundance	_		
Straw	13.119	<0.050	
Tillage	11.459	<0.050	
Tillage:Straw	4.646 <0.050		
Juvenile abundance	_		
Straw	0.281	0.601	
Tillage	43.952	<0.050	
Tillage:Straw	0.309	0.738	
Endogeic abundance	_		
Straw	14.238	<0.050	
Tillage	9.014	<0.050	
Tillage:Straw	5.471	<0.050	

Table 4. The results from the two-way ANOVA analysis of the effects of tillage and straw individually and their interaction. Significant effects are displayed in bold.

Moreover, we were able to identify which treatment combinations had significant effects on the earthworm parameters quantified (Table 5). For the earthworm biomass and earthworm abundance the tillage treatment had a significant effect when the straw was incorporated in the combinations, no-tillage – conventional tillage and reduced tillage – conventional tillage (P<0.05). The tillage treatment also had an effect in the combination reduced tillage – no tillage and no-tillage –

conventional tillage when the straw is removed (P<0.05). There is no effect of straw treatment for earthworm biomass and abundance. For adult abundance and endogeic abundance, the straw treatment had an effect in reduced tillage, also there is an effect of tillage treatment when the straw is incorporated in the combinations reduced tillage – conventional tillage and reduced tillage – no-tillage (P<0.05). In addition, for juvenile abundance there is no effect of straw treatment. For juvenile abundance there is an effect of tillage treatment both when straw is removed and incorporated in the combinations, no-tillage – conventional tillage and reduced tillage – no-tillage (P<0.05).

Measurement	P-value
Farthwarm hiamass	1 / 11/10
Conventional: R-Conventional:	0 999
No_tillage I_ Conventional I	<0.050
Reduced L Conventional I	<0.050
Neutillage:R_ Conventional:R	<0.050
Reduced R- Conventional R	0.401
No-tillage:R- No-tillage:I	0.999
Reduced I- No-tillage I	0.499
Reduced R – No-tillage R	<0.050
Reduced R - Reduced I	0.100
Farthworm abundance	0.100
Conventional: R-Conventional:	0.891
No-tillage I- Conventional I	<0.051
Reduced I. Conventional I	<0.050
No-tillage R- Conventional R	<0.050
Reduced R- Conventional R	0.124
No-tillage R- No-tillage I	0.999
Reduced I- No-tillage I	0.503
Reduced R – No-tillage R	<0.050
Reduced R - Reduced I	0.151
Adult abundance	0.101
Conventional:R-Conventional:I	0.711
No-tillage'I- Conventional'I	0.995
Reduced I. Conventional:	<0.050
No-tillage R- Conventional R	0.687
Reduced R- Conventional R	0.585
No-tillage R- No-tillage I	1 000
Reduced:I- No-tillage:I	<0.050
Reduced:R – No-tillage:R	0.999
Reduced:R - Reduced:I	<0.050
Juvenile abundance	
Conventional:R-Conventional:I	0.985
No-tillage:I- Conventional:I	<0.050
Reduced:I- Conventional:I	0.085
No-tillage:R- Conventional:R	<0.050
Reduced:R- Conventional:R	0.133
No-tillage:R- No-tillage:I	0.998
Reduced:I- No-tillage:I	<0.050
Reduced:R – No-tillage:R	<0.050
Reduced:R - Reduced:I	0.953
Endogeic abundance	
Conventional:R-Conventional:I	0.670
No-tillage:I- Conventional:I	0.999
Reduced: I- Conventional: I	<0.050
No-tillage:R- Conventional:R	0.906
Reduced:R- Conventional:R	0.870
No-tillage:R- No-tillage:I	1.000
Reduced:I- No-tillage:I	<0.050
Reduced:R – No-tillage:R	0.999
Reduced:R - Reduced:I	<0.050

Table 5. Effects of single treatments on earthworm presence, where reduced is reduced tillage, conventional is conventional tillage, directdrill is no tillage, I is straw incorporated and R is straw removed. Significant effects are displayed in bold.

3.4 Correlation between soil properties and earthworms

Earthworm biomass has a negative strong correlation with turbidity 1 and 2 (Tub 1 and Tub 2) (Table 6). Whilst basal respiration (BR) has a moderate positive correlation (0.48) to earthworm biomass, and there is also a strong positive correlation between carbon (C), nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P) and penetration resistance in the 1-10 cm depth and 11-20 cm depth (PR 1-10 and PR 11-20) with earthworm biomass. Moreover, earthworm abundance has a strong negative correlation with Tub 1 and Tub 2. While C, N, PR 1-10, and PR 11-20 have a strong positive correlation with total earthworm abundance. Finally, BR and P have a positive moderate correlation with earthworm abundance. Adult abundance has a moderate negative correlation with Tub 1 and Tub 2, also there is a moderate positive correlation with BR and PR 11-20. C, N, P and PR 1-10 have no correlation with adult abundance. For the endogeic abundance, there is only a moderate positive correlation with BR and PR 11-20. In comparison, juvenile abundance has a strong negative correlation with Tub 1 and Tub 2. For C, N, P, PR 1-10, and PR 11-20 there is a strong positive correlation with juvenile abundance. BR has a moderate positive correlation with juvenile abundance. How the soil properties differ between the treatments are shown in appendix.

aisplayea in bola.								
Earthworm parameter	Tub 1	Tub 2	BR	С	Ν	Р	PR 1-10	PR 11-20
Earthworm biomass	_							
r	-0.780	-0.784	0.482	0.756	0.757	0.708	0.784	0.809
P-value	< 0.050	< 0.050	< 0.050	< 0.050	< 0.050	< 0.050	< 0.050	< 0.050
Earthworm abundance	_							
r	-0.784	-0.796	0.609	0.748	0.759	0.648	0.725	0.800
P-value	< 0.050	< 0.050	< 0.050	< 0.050	< 0.050	< 0.050	< 0.050	< 0.050
Adult abundance	_							
r	-0.391	-0.419	0.586	0.245	0.252	0.108	0.199	0.562
P-value	< 0.050	< 0.050	< 0.050	0.208	0.196	0.586	0.310	< 0.050
Juvenile abundance	_							
r	-0.785	-0.787	0.496	0.799	0.810	0.735	0.791	0.734
P-value	< 0.050	< 0.050	< 0.050	< 0.050	< 0.050	< 0.050	< 0.050	< 0.050
Endogeic abundance	_							
r	-0.324	-0.340	0.561	0.167	0.172	0.020	0.106	0.487
P-value	0.092	0.076	< 0.050	0.395	0.382	0.918	0.591	< 0.050

Table 6. Results from the pearson correlation test with correlation coefficient (r) and P-values, from analysing biomass and abundance of earthworms and abundance of adult, juvenile and endogeic earthworms and how it is correlated between different soil parameters. Significant correlations are displayed in bold.

4. Discussion

This study aimed to analyse the effect of tillage and straw treatments on earthworm presence and connect the presence of earthworms with different soil properties. Notillage benefitted the biomass of earthworms and earthworm and juvenile abundance (Figure 5, 6 and 7), while reduced tillage with straw incorporated favoured adults and endogeic earthworm abundance more (Figure 8 and 9). We were able to see differences between conventional tillage, reduced tillage and notillage, and that are expected due a higher disturbance of the soil is disadvantageous for earthworms (Briones & Schmidt 2017). There was also an interaction effect of tillage and straw treatment for adult and endogeic abundance (Table 4). There was only an effect of straw management in reduced tillage, for the earthworm parameters adult and endogeic abundance (Table 5). As expected, earthworm biomass and earthworm and juvenile abundance correlated positively with total carbon content and soil respiration. Perhaps a bit surprising, earthworms also correlated positively with resistance to soil penetration. While adults and endogeic earthworm abundance did not show any correlation with carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus content (Table 6).

4.1 Effects of tillage and straw on earthworm presence

4.1.1 Tillage management

Earthworm biomass and abundance showed a similar trend as juvenile abundance when analysing the response to tillage treatments. That may be due to most of the earthworms found being juveniles. No-tillage treatment had the statistically highest abundance of earthworms in total and juveniles and the highest earthworm biomass (Figure 5, 6 and 7). These results are similar to other studies, for example Briones & Schmidt (2017) found that no-tillage practices will increase the abundance of earthworms in comparison to ploughed soils. The same study also found that non-inversion tillage does not affect the abundance of earthworms in comparison to ploughing (Briones & Schmidt 2017), which contradicts the results from this study. Our results show that reduced tillage increase the earthworm abundance and juvenile abundance, as well as earthworm biomass when straw is incorporated in comparison to conventional tillage (Figure 5, 6 and 7). However, in the study by

Briones & Schmidt (2017) reduced tillage implements tillage systems as shallow ploughing for instance, and in our study no inversion tillage was used in reduced tillage, which may explain the differences between the studies.

The adult abundance and endogeic earthworm abundance showed similar trends. This is related to the number of adult earthworms collected were in majority of endogeic species. For adult and endogeic abundance, reduced tillage with straw incorporated (Rt-Si) had a larger abundance than the other treatments (Figure 8 and 9). There was no significant difference between treatment Ct-Sr, Ct-Si, Rt-Sr and no-tillage according to the adult and endogeic abundance (Figure 8 and 9). Briones & Schmidt (2017) showed that endogeic earthworms were affected by tillage treatment, where there was a higher abundance when tillage is reduced. However, the abundance of anecic and epigeic species seems to increase at a higher rate when the tillage is reduced in comparison to endogeic species (Briones & Schmidt 2017). Also, Nuutinen (1992) found that *A. caliginosa* is less affected by tillage treatments.

According to our results, anecic earthworms seem to be more affected by tillage than endogeic species and the highest abundance of anecic earthworms was found in no-tillage and the lowest in conventional tillage (Figure 10). There is important to notice that no statistical analysis (e.g., ANOVA analysis) was done on anecic earthworms due to the data was not normally distributed. However, anecic earthworms have previously been shown to be more sensitive to intensive tillage (Briones & Schmidt 2017). Similar to our study, Wyss & Glasstetter (1992) found that endogeic species are less impacted in ploughed soil in comparison to the anecic species, which may be due to the smaller size of endogeic species. The anecic species showed a higher abundance than endogeic species in minimum tilled plots, and a lower abundance in ploughed plots than endogeic species, which may be due to the destruction of their vertical and permanent burrows by ploughing (Wyss & Glasstetter 1992). Also, Torppa & Taylor (2022) found that there were more anecic earthworms in no-tilled soils than in conventional tillage. The anecic earthworms may also be affected negatively by ploughing due to the crop residues is placed in a depth of approximately 20 cm, and they mostly feed on the soil surface (Chan 2001).

According to our study, juveniles seem to be more impacted by different tillage methods than adults. This can be explained by the high number of endogeic earthworms found and according to Wyss & Glasstetter (1992), the endogeic earthworms are less impacted by tillage and, most of the adult earthworms found in our study were endogeic. According to Bertrand et al. (2015), adult earthworms seem to be less affected by tillage methods in comparison to juvenile earthworms, which corresponds to our results. However, the result from our study contradicts the results from Emmerling (2001), where the abundance of adult and juvenile earthworms were decreased in ploughed soils, in comparison to non-inversion tillage. However, in the study by Emmerling (2001), the reduced tillage systems

differ from the reduced tillage systems in our study, due to in our study the last years a Carrier was used for stubble cultivation which has a quite shallow tillage and in the study by Emmerling (2001) the tillage depth was 30 cm, which may lead to different results. In studies where the impact of tillage on earthworms are examined, the tillage methods may differ, therefore it is important to describe how and when the tillage is conducted, as the type of tillage conducted has an impact on earthworms (Chan 2001). However, the results from our study demonstrates that tillage have effects on earthworms which can be explained by mechanical damage, changes in biological or physical conditions (Chan 2001) and also their exposure to predators (Briones & Schmidt 2017).

4.1.2 Straw treatment

For the adult abundance and endogeic abundance the incorporation of straw had a positive effect on earthworms, but only in combination with reduced tillage, while for the earthworm biomass and earthworm and juvenile abundance the straw treatment had no significant effect (Table 5). Our results for adult and endogeic earthworms contradict the findings of Eriksen-Hamel et al. (2009), where the earthworms were not affected by residue input in conventional, reduced and notillage. However, in the study by Eriksen-Hamel et al. (2009), there was no description of how straw treatment affects the earthworm population in different tillage methods, only how they were affected in general. In our study, there were differences in straw treatment between the tillage methods, where for instance straw treatment in conventional tillage does not have any effect on earthworm abundance while in reduced tillage straw treatment has an effect on adult abundance for instance (Table 5). The differences among studies may also occur due to different amount of crop residues, which is not specified in either our study or by Eriksen-Hamel et al. (2009). High removal of corn stover reduces the earthworm abundance in comparison to a lower rate of removal in no-tilled soils (Blanco-Canqui & Lal 2007b), which is similar to our results for earthworm abundance and adult and endogeic abundance in reduced tilled soils. But it is important to notice that in their study the earthworm species were not specified, and they only used corn residues (Blanco-Canqui & Lal 2007b). Also, a higher residue mulch rate from wheat can increase the earthworm population in no-tilled soils without any crops (Blanco-Canqui & Lal 2007a). Nevertheless, comparisons of the studies above to the results of our study are not easy to make, due to the different types of crop residues used in the field trials. However, it seems that crop residues may influence earthworms in non-conventional tilled soils. Why the straw treatment did not show any effect in conventional tillage in our study may be due to the residues in ploughed soils are not well mixed in the soil in comparison to reduced tillage. After ploughing, the straw mostly is placed deeper in the soil on the plough depth which may leads to less straw available for the earthworms.

It is important to notice that the results in our study may be affected by that the four replicates from the no-tillage treatment are only from one field trial (R2-4017), while for the other treatments (Ct-Si, Ct-Sr, Rt-Si and Rt-Sr) the treatments come from two different field trials (R2-4010 and R2-4017). The two field trials are located in two different fields, approximately 300 meters between the trials, which may have a different abundance of earthworms and soil properties, such as penetration resistance and carbon content. Otherwise, treatments Ct-Si, Ct-Sr, Rt-Si and Rt-Sr may be more comparable due to for each treatment, it was two replicates from R2-4017 and four replicates from R2-4010.

4.2 Soil properties

4.2.1 Penetration resistance

In our study, there was no significant correlation between penetration resistance at a depth between 1-10 cm to endogeic abundance (Table 6). However, at a depth of 11-20 cm, there was a significant positive correlation between penetration resistance and endogeic abundance. The positive correlation indicates that we could expect a higher abundance of earthworms in soils with higher penetration resistance at that depth. Adult abundance also had a significant positive correlation with penetration resistance in the depth 11-20, but not in the depth 1-10 cm. Earthworm biomass, earthworm abundance and juvenile abundance showed a significant positive correlation with penetration resistance in the depth 1-10 cm and 11-20 cm. According to Wyss & Glasstetter (1992) endogeic species are affected negatively by a more compacted soil in minimal-tilled plots, but it is unclear whether the tillage systems itself or the higher compaction that affected the endogeic species negatively. In that study they also found other endogeic species that is not presented in our study (Wyss & Glasstetter 1992), which may be an explanation of the differences between the studies. A correlation with penetration resistance and endogeic abundance at a depth between 11-20 cm is quite surprising due to a higher bulk density reduces endogeic burrowing activities (Capowiez et al. 2021) and the abundance of earthworms decreases with an increase in bulk density (Beylich et al. 2010). In the paper from Beylich et al. (2010), there was no description of how different earthworm species were affected which make the studies hard to compare. Crittenden et al. (2014) also showed that endogeic species are negatively affected by a higher penetration resistance. The positive correlations between earthworm abundance and penetration resistance in our study are not expected. However, penetration resistance is highly influenced on soil water content and during or before sampling it was raining, which may affect the penetration result. But, when comparing the soil moisture content with the penetration resistance, it seems that the soil moisture content is not affecting the penetration result. According to

Arrázola-Vásquez et al. (2022), the burrowing rates of A. caliginosa and A. longa will decrease with a higher penetration resistance. But regarding A. caliginosa the decreases was higher in comparison to A. longa (Arrázola-Vásquez et al. 2022). However, the burrowing rates and earthworm abundance may not correlate but the burrowing rates may indicate how earthworms are affected by penetration resistance. However, this correlations in our study may indicate that no-tillage or reduced tillage create other soil properties that are important for the earthworms and that there are several factors involved to create favourable conditions for earthworms. Even if there was positive correlation between earthworm abundance and penetration resistance, the resistance is may not too high to affect the earthworm abundance. In another study there was a high earthworm abundance in no-tillage treatments, while it also was a high penetration resistance (Dekemati et al. 2019) which is similar to our results. In Appendix 1, the average values of penetration resistance in the different treatments are shown, where no-tillage has the highest penetration resistance. In the depth 1-10 cm the average value varied between 0.95 and 1.62 MPascal and in the depth 11-20, it varied between 1.76 and 2.84 MPascal.

4.2.2 Total carbon, nitrogen, and phosphorus content

Adult and endogeic abundance had no significant correlation with C, N and P while earthworm biomass, earthworm abundance and juvenile abundance showed a significant positive relationship to the same parameters (Table 6). Adult and endogeic abundance may show the same trend, as most of the adult earthworms collected were endogeic species. No-tillage had the highest total C content, followed by treatment Rt-Si and Rt-Sr, and treatments Ct-Si and Ct-Sr had the lowest total C content. However, there are no significant differences in C content between treatments Rt-Sr & Rt-Si, Rt-Sr & Ct-Si and Ct-Si & Ct-Sr (Appendix 2). Ernst & Emmerling (2009) could not find any significant difference in soil organic carbon at 0 to 30 cm depth when comparing direct sowing with ploughing, but they could find that the anecic species A. longa seems to prefer a high SOC content. Hendrix et al. (1992) found a positive correlation between earthworms and soil organic carbon (0-5 cm depth) and that no-tilled plots had a higher soil organic carbon content than ploughed soils, which is similar to our results. If the different carbon content in the treatments depends on the tillage method or earthworm abundance is difficult to conclude. A meta-analysis showed that soil carbon in 0-60 cm depth does not change between conventional and no-tillage (Luo et al. 2010). In comparison, the carbon content will increase at 0-10 cm depth with no-tillage compared to conventional tillage (Luo et al. 2010). The carbon measurement in this study was taken at 0-20 cm depth, so the tillage method probably influenced the carbon content. However, soil organic matter may be protected by earthworm activity (Pulleman et al. 2005) and Bossuyt et al. (2005) showed that the soil carbon

can be protected by earthworms presence and compared with bulk soil, and also earthworm casts can increase the soil organic carbon (Zhang & Schrader 1993).

In the no-tilled treatment in our study, the carbon content was higher, which may explain the higher abundance of anecic species in these plots. Torppa & Taylor (2022) found a higher soil organic carbon content in no-tilled plots near the soil surface, and it can be explained by the anecic feeding preferences on organic carbon at the surface (Chan 2001). However, in our study, the carbon samples were taken at a depth from 0 to 20 cm, and it is hard to say if the soil surface contains more carbon as it is an average carbon content for the whole profile.

According to the nitrogen and phosphorus content, earthworm cast contains a higher level of nitrogen and phosphorus in comparison to bulk soil (Van Groenigen et al. 2019) which may be an explanation of the correlations shown in Table 6.

4.2.3 Basal respiration

In our study, we found a positive relationship between all earthworm parameters and basal respiration (Table 6). Multiple studies show contradictory results regarding the influence of earthworms on soil respiration. For instance, Schindler Wessells et al. (1997), showed that the presence of earthworms leads to higher soil respiration, and at the same time, the soil respiration depends on types of fertilizer used (e.g. inorganic fertilizer vs. manure) and the season. In addition, the soil respiration rate may depend on a higher microbial activity due to earthworm presence or by the direct respiration from the earthworms (Schindler Wessells et al. 1997). For instance, it has been reported that microbial respiration can increase by approximately 15 % when L. rubellus is present (Haimi & Huhta 1990). While Bossuyt et al. (2005) found that the presence of earthworms does not have any effect on soil respiration. The presence of earthworms affect the microbial biomass, where the microbial biomass can be decreased by the presence of endogeic earthworms (Scheu et al. 2002). In contrast, the casts of anecic earthworms may create favourable conditions for the microbial biomass (Medina-Sauza et al. 2019). However, according to Medina-Sauza et al. (2019) the effects of anecic and endogeic presence on microbial biomass are varying, where the presence of earthworms both can have a positive or negative influence on the microbial biomass. In Appendix 3 the average value of basal respiration is shown for each treatment.

4.2.4 Aggregate stability

Endogeic abundance does not show any significant correlation with turbidity (1 and 2) (Table 6). Whilst earthworm abundance, juvenile abundance, adult abundance, and earthworm biomass show a significantly negative correlation to turbidity. It is known that low turbidity means a low clay concentration (Etana et al. 2009) and a

high aggregate stability (Ulén et al. 2012). Therefore, the negative correlations imply a higher presence of earthworms (abundance or biomass) with an increase in aggregate stability. Our results are in agreement with other studies, which reported that earthworm presence may result in higher water-stable aggregates (Ketterings et al. 1997). However, we should also consider that higher aggregate stability might also be an effect of the tillage method rather than earthworm activity. The no-tillage treatment had the lowest turbidity (1 and 2), followed by both the reduced tillage treatment, while both the conventional treatments have the lowest turbidity (1 and 2), data shown in Appendix 4. Kasper et al. (2009) reported that minimum tillage can increase the level of stable aggregates in comparison with conventional and reduced tillage. This may be the case in our study, where no-tillage has a lower turbidity than the reduced and conventional tilled treatments.

The earthworm biomass and the abundance of earthworms and juveniles, have a significant correlation to all soil parameters (Table 6). However, it is unclear whether the presence of earthworms is affecting the soil properties, or if the relationships only is a result of different tillage and straw treatments. It is also important to notice when analysing the results in Appendix, that the no-tillage treatment is only from one field trial, while the other treatments (Ct-Si, Ct-Sr, Rt-Si and Rt-Sr) are from two different field trials.

5. Conclusion

This study aimed to compare the presence of earthworms in different tillage and straw treatment and connect the presence with soil properties. Our study confirms that the earthworm presence is affected by tillage methods, where the highest biomass and earthworm abundance are found in the no-tillage treatments. While the adult and endogeic earthworms are only affected positively by the tillage method reduced tillage, when straw is incorporated. In conventional tillage and no-tillage the straw treatment does not have any effect, however, in reduced tillage there was an effect of straw treatment according to the abundance of adult and endogeic earthworms. This study demonstrates that the effect of tillage may differ between species and ecological groups of earthworms. It seems that anecic earthworms were more affected than endogeic earthworms when comparing tillage methods. It is unclear if the earthworms are affecting soil properties such as carbon content, aggregate stability, and respiration or if the soil properties affect the earthworm presence in our field experiment. It can also be both, like a feedback cycle. However, earthworm biomass and abundance of earthworms and juveniles show a moderate or strong correlation to all soil parameters measured in this study. The findings in this study show that the type of tillage methods influence the presence of earthworms. A decrease in earthworms may lead to a lower mineral nitrogen and available phosphorus content in the soil due to the earthworm cast containing more mineral nitrogen and available phosphorus in comparison to bulk soil (Van Groenigen et al. 2019). Further research could study how crop yields corresponds to earthworm presence, because a relationship between those parameters may be an incentive for farmers to use tillage methods that benefits the earthworm population. Another way to achieve a more accurate results may be to sample earthworms over a longer period, due to the earthworm abundance may differ in the different tillage treatments depending on the year. However, the recommendation to create favourable conditions for earthworms is to implement no-tillage or reduced tillage. But other impacts of the tillage methods on agricultural management also need to be considered (e.g., plant diseases).

References

Andersen, C. (1997). Regnorme.

- Arrázola-Vásquez, E., Larsbo, M., Capowiez, Y., Taylor, A., Sandin, M., Iseskog, D. & Keller, T. (2022). Earthworm burrowing modes and rates depend on earthworm species and soil mechanical resistance. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 178, 104568. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2022.104568
- Asshoff, R., Scheu, S. & Eisenhauer, N. (2010). Different earthworm ecological groups interactively impact seedling establishment. *European Journal of Soil Biology*, 46 (5), 330–334. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejsobi.2010.06.005
- Barnes, B.T. & Ellis, F.B. (1979). Effects of Different Methods of Cultivation and Direct Drilling, and Disposal of Straw Residues, on Populations of Earthworms. *Journal of Soil Science*, 30 (4), 669–679. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2389.1979.tb01016.x
- Bertrand, M., Barot, S., Blouin, M., Whalen, J., de Oliveira, T. & Roger-Estrade, J. (2015). Earthworm services for cropping systems. A review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development, 35 (2), 553–567. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-014-0269-7
- Beylich, A., Oberholzer, H.-R., Schrader, S., Höper, H. & Wilke, B.-M. (2010). Evaluation of soil compaction effects on soil biota and soil biological processes in soils. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 109 (2), 133–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.still.2010.05.010
- Bhadauria, T. & Saxena, K.G. (2009). Role of Earthworms in Soil Fertility Maintenance through the Production of Biogenic Structures. *Applied and Environmental Soil Science*. 2010, 816073. https://doi.org/10.1155/2010/816073
- Blanco-Canqui, H. & Lal, R. (2007a). Impacts of Long-Term Wheat Straw Management on Soil Hydraulic Properties under No-Tillage. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 71 (4), 1166–1173. https://doi.org/10.2136/sssaj2006.0411
- Blanco-Canqui, H. & Lal, R. (2007b). Soil and crop response to harvesting corn residues for biofuel production. *Geoderma*, 141 (3), 355–362. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2007.06.012
- Bohlen, P.J. & Edwards, C.A. (1995). Earthworm effects on N dynamics and soil respiration in microcosms receiving organic and inorganic nutrients. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 27 (3), 341–348. https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-0717(94)00184-3
- Bossuyt, H., Six, J. & Hendrix, P.F. (2005). Protection of soil carbon by microaggregates within earthworm casts. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 37 (2), 251–258. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2004.07.035
- Boström, U. (1995). Earthworm populations (Lumbricidae) in ploughed and undisturbed leys. Soil and Tillage Research, 35 (3), 125–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-1987(95)00489-0
- Briones, M.J.I. & Schmidt, O. (2017). Conventional tillage decreases the abundance and biomass of earthworms and alters their community

structure in a global meta-analysis. *Global Change Biology*, 23 (10), 4396–4419. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13744

- Bölscher, T., Koestel, J., Etana, A., Ulén, B., Berglund, K. & Larsbo, M. (2021). Changes in pore networks and readily dispersible soil following structure liming of clay soils. *Geoderma*, 390, 114948. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2021.114948
- Capowiez, Y., Sammartino, S., Keller, T. & Bottinelli, N. (2021). Decreased burrowing activity of endogeic earthworms and effects on water infiltration in response to an increase in soil bulk density. *Pedobiologia*, 85–86, 150728. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedobi.2021.150728
- Carter, M.R. (1988). Temporal variability of soil macroporosity in a fine sandy loam under mouldboard ploughing and direct drilling. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 12 (1), 37–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-1987(88)90054-2
- Chan, K.Y. (2001). An overview of some tillage impacts on earthworm population abundance and diversity — implications for functioning in soils. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 57 (4), 179–191. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-1987(00)00173-2
- Crittenden, S.J., Eswaramurthy, T., de Goede, R.G.M., Brussaard, L. & Pulleman, M.M. (2014). Effect of tillage on earthworms over short- and mediumterm in conventional and organic farming. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 83, 140– 148. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2014.03.001
- Dekemati, I., Simon, B., Vinogradov, S. & Birkás, M. (2019). The effects of various tillage treatments on soil physical properties, earthworm abundance and crop yield in Hungary. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 194, 104334. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.still.2019.104334
- Edwards, C.A. & Arancon, N.Q. (2022). *Biology and Ecology of Earthworms*. New York, NY: Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-74943-3
- Emmerling, C. (2001). Response of earthworm communities to different types of soil tillage. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 17 (1), 91–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0929-1393(00)00132-3
- Emmerling, C. & Paulsch, D. (2001). Improvement of earthworm (Lumbricidae) community and activity in mine soils from open-cast coal mining by the application of different organic waste materials. *Pedobiologia*, 45 (5), 396–407. https://doi.org/10.1078/0031-4056-00095
- Eriksen-Hamel, N.S., Speratti, A.B., Whalen, J.K., Légère, A. & Madramootoo, C.A. (2009). Earthworm populations and growth rates related to long-term crop residue and tillage management. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 104 (2), 311–316. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.still.2009.04.006
- Ernst, G. & Emmerling, C. (2009). Impact of five different tillage systems on soil organic carbon content and the density, biomass, and community composition of earthworms after a ten year period. *European Journal of Soil Biology*, 45 (3), 247–251. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejsobi.2009.02.002
- Etana, A., Rydberg, T. & Arvidsson, J. (2009). Readily dispersible clay and particle transport in five Swedish soils under long-term shallow tillage and mouldboard ploughing. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 106 (1), 79–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.still.2009.09.016
- Fonte, S.J., Quintero, D.C., Velásquez, E. & Lavelle, P. (2012). Interactive effects of plants and earthworms on the physical stabilization of soil organic matter in aggregates. *Plant and Soil*, 359 (1–2), 205–214. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-012-1199-2
- Frazão, J., de Goede, R.G.M., Salánki, T.E., Brussaard, L., Faber, J.H., Hedde, M. & Pulleman, M.M. (2019). Responses of earthworm communities to crop residue management after inoculation of the earthworm Lumbricus terrestris (Linnaeus, 1758). *Applied Soil Ecology*, 142, 177–188. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2019.04.022

- van Groenigen, J.W., Lubbers, I.M., Vos, H.M.J., Brown, G.G., De Deyn, G.B. & van Groenigen, K.J. (2014). Earthworms increase plant production: a meta-analysis. *Scientific Reports*, 4 (1), 6365. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep06365
- Haimi, J. & Huhta, V. (1990). Effect of earthworms on decomposition processes in raw humus forest soil: A microcosm study. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 10 (3), 178–183. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00336132
- Hale, C. (2013). Earthworms of the Great Lakes. 2 ed.
- Hendrix, P.F., Mueller, B.R., Bruce, R.R., Langdale, G.W. & Parmelee, R.W. (1992). Abundance and distribution of earthworms in relation to landscape factors on the Georgia Piedmont, U.S.A. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 24 (12), 1357–1361. https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-0717(92)90118-H
- Jaleta, M., Baudron, F., Krivokapic-Skoko, B. & Erenstein, O. (2019). Agricultural mechanization and reduced tillage: antagonism or synergy? *International Journal of Agricultural Sustainability*, 17 (3), 219–230. https://doi.org/10.1080/14735903.2019.1613742
- Kasper, M., Buchan, G.D., Mentler, A. & Blum, W.E.H. (2009). Influence of soil tillage systems on aggregate stability and the distribution of C and N in different aggregate fractions. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 105 (2), 192–199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.still.2009.08.002
- Ketterings, Q.M., Blair, J.M. & Marinissen, J.C.Y. (1997). Effects of earthworms on soil aggregate stability and carbon and nitrogen storage in a legume cover crop agroecosystem. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 29 (3), 401– 408. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0038-0717(96)00102-2
- Kladivko, E.J., Akhouri, N.M. & Weesies, G. (1997). Earthworm populations and species distributions under no-till and conventional tillage in Indiana and Illinois. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 29 (3), 613–615. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0038-0717(96)00187-3
- Lal, R. (2013). Enhancing ecosystem services with no-till. *Renewable Agriculture* and Food Systems, 28 (2), 102–114. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1742170512000452
- Luo, Z., Wang, E. & Sun, O.J. (2010). Can no-tillage stimulate carbon sequestration in agricultural soils? A meta-analysis of paired experiments. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 139 (1), 224–231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2010.08.006
- Medina-Sauza, R.M., Álvarez-Jiménez, M., Delhal, A., Reverchon, F., Blouin, M., Guerrero-Analco, J.A., Cerdán, C.R., Guevara, R., Villain, L. & Barois, I. (2019). Earthworms Building Up Soil Microbiota, a Review. *Frontiers in Environmental Science*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2019.00081
- Nordgren, A. (1988). Apparatus for the continuous, long-term monitoring of soil respiration rate in large numbers of samples. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 20 (6), 955–957. https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-0717(88)90110-1
- Nuutinen, V. (1992). Earthworm community response to tillage and residue management on different soil types in southern Finland. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 23 (3), 221–239. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-1987(92)90102-H
- Pulleman, M.M., Six, J., Uyl, A., Marinissen, J.C.Y. & Jongmans, A.G. (2005). Earthworms and management affect organic matter incorporation and microaggregate formation in agricultural soils. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 29 (1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2004.10.003
- Scheu, S., Schlitt, N., Tiunov, A.V., Newington, J.E. & Jones, H.T. (2002). Effects of the presence and community composition of earthworms on

microbial community functioning. *Oecologia*, 133 (2), 254–260. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-002-1023-4

- Schindler Wessells, M.L., Bohlen, P.J., Mccartney, D.A., Subler, S. & Edwards, C.A. (1997). Earthworm effects on soil respiration in corn agroecosystems receiving different nutrient inputs. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 29 (3), 409–412. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0038-0717(96)00172-1
- Schmidt, O., Clements, R.O. & Donaldson, G. (2003). Why do cereal-legume intercrops support large earthworm populations? *Applied Soil Ecology*, 22 (2), 181–190. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0929-1393(02)00131-2
- Sherlock, E. (2012). Key to the earthworms of the UK and Ireland
- Tomati, U. & Galli, E. (1995). Earthworms, soil fertility and plant productivity. *Acta Zoologica Fennica*, 196, 11–14
- Torppa, K.A. & Taylor, A.R. (2022). Alternative combinations of tillage practices and crop rotations can foster earthworm density and bioturbation. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 175, 104460. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2022.104460
- Ulén, B., Alex, G., Kreuger, J., Svanbäck, A. & Etana, A. (2012). Particulatefacilitated leaching of glyphosate and phosphorus from a marine clay soil via tile drains. *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section B — Soil & Plant Science*, 62 (sup2), 241–251.
 - https://doi.org/10.1080/09064710.2012.697572
- Van Groenigen, J.W., Van Groenigen, K.J., Koopmans, G.F., Stokkermans, L., Vos, H.M.J. & Lubbers, I.M. (2019). How fertile are earthworm casts? A meta-analysis. *Geoderma*, 338, 525–535. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2018.11.001
- Wyss, E. & Glasstetter, M. (1992). Tillage treatments and earthworm distribution in a swiss experimental corn field. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 24 (12), 1635–1639. https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-0717(92)90162-Q
- Zhang, H. & Schrader, S. (1993). Earthworm effects on selected physical and chemical properties of soil aggregates. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 15 (3), 229–234. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00361617

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Daggmaskar har stor påverkan på markförhållandena, med avseende på bland annat markstruktur och cirkulering av organiskt material. Daggmaskar kan även ge en högre skörd, vilket kan bero på ökad kvävemineralisering. Det finns olika grupper av daggmaskar; anecic, endogeic och epigeic, vilka har olika funktioner i marken. Anecic daggmaskar är relativt stora och gräver permanenta, vertikala maskgångar. De förflyttar sig från den djupare markprofilen till markytan där de hämtar föda, i form av växtrester. Växtresterna förs sedan ned i markprofilen vilket skapar en god cirkulering av växtrester genom hela profilen. Endogeic daggmaskar förekommer främst i matjorden där de intar föda i form av mineraljord berikad på organiskt material. Maskgångar av endogeic daggmaskar är horisontella och inte permanenta. Slutligen, epigeic daggmaskar befinner sig på markytan där de intar föda i form av växtrester.

Studier har visat att reducerad bearbetning eller direktsådd gynnar daggmaskar i högre grad jämfört med konventionell bearbetning som oftast inkluderar plöjning. Dock finns det skillnader mellan daggmaskgrupperna och hur de påverkas av jordbearbetning. Anecic daggmaskar påverkas oftast mer negativt av mer intensiv jordbearbetning, såsom plöjning, samtidigt som endogeic daggmaskar inte påverkas i samma utsträckning. Enligt vissa studier är det ingen skillnad i antalet endogeic daggmaskar mellan konventionell och reducerad bearbetning.

Syftet med denna studie var att undersöka hur daggmaskar påverkas i olika jordbearbetningsförsök med olika halmbehandlingar, med avseende på biomassa och antal i två långliggande fältförsök. Syftet var även att undersöka markegenskaper, som respiration och aggregatstabilitet, och att koppla dessa egenskaper med förekomsten av daggmaskar. Fem olika behandlingar undersöktes; direktsådd, reducerad bearbetning med halmen bortförd eller nedbrukad, samt konventionell bearbetning med halmen bortförd eller nedbrukad. Fältförsöken var lokaliserade på Lanna försöksstation utanför Lidköping.

Resultatet visade att biomassan av daggmaskar var högst i den direktsådda behandlingen. Antalet daggmaskar och juveniler var högst i den direktsådda behandlingen och den konventionella behandlingen hade lägst antal daggmaskar och juveniler. Antalet fullvuxna och endogeic daggmaskar var högst i den reducerade behandlingen med halmen nedbrukad, samtidigt var det ingen skillnad i antal för fullvuxna och endogeic daggmaskar mellan direktsådd och konventionell jordbearbetning. Halmbehandling hade ingen effekt i den konventionella och direktsådda behandlingen men för reducerad bearbetning hade behandlingen med nedbrukad halm högre antal fullvuxna och endogeic daggmaskar. Resultatet visade även att det finns samband mellan aggregatstablitet och antal daggmaskar, fullvuxna daggmaskar och juveniler, samt biomassan av daggmaskar, högre biomassa/antal gav högre aggregatstablitet. Det är dock svårt att avgöra till vilken grad daggmaskarna i denna studie påverkar aggregatstabiliteten eller om aggregatstabiliteten främst påverkas av bearbetningsmetoderna.

Denna studie visar att vid direktsådd var antalet daggmaskar högre jämfört med reducerad och konventionell bearbetning, men att det inte finns inte någon skillnad för antalet endogeic daggmaskar mellan direktsådd och konventionell bearbetning. Slutsatsen är att daggmaskar påverkas av olika bearbetningsmetoder men att påverkan också skiljer sig mellan olika grupper av daggmaskar.

Acknowledgements

Thanks to my supervisor Elsa Arrazola Vasquez for supporting me during the project, for answering all my questions and for helping me with the samplings in field and measurements in lab. Elsa has been very involved in the project and always helped me. I also want to thank my assistant supervisor Hanna Sjulgård, Hanna has supporting me during measurements in lab, helped me with the report and samplings in the field. Thanks to my assistant supervisor Thomas Keller who came up with the idea to study earthworms and for supporting me during the period. Then, thanks to Ludmila Ribeiro Roder for helping me with the samplings in field and in lab. Thanks to the staff of the Soil Mechanics and Soil Management group for supporting me in lab and thanks to the Soil and Plant Laboratory for the measurements. I also want to thank my family and friends for support during the period.

Table A1a. Mean value of penetration resistance in the depth 1-10 cm (PR 1-10) in the different treatments, P-value is <0.050. Mean value with different letters have statistical differences. No-tillage has the highest penetration resistance while there is no significant difference in penetration resistance between Rt-Si, Rt-Sr, Ct-Si and Ct-Sr.

Treatment	PR 1-10 (MPascal)
No-tillage	1.622a
Rt-Si	1.122b
Rt-Sr	1.120b
Ct-Si	0.973b
Ct-Sr	0.949b

Table A1b. Mena value of penetration resistance in the depth 11-20 cm (PR 11-20) in the different treatments, P-value is <0.050. Mean value with different letters have statistical differences. No-tillage has the highest penetration resistance, but there is no significant difference in penetration resistance between no-tillage and Rt-Si. Treatments Ct-Si and Ct-Sr have the lowest penetration resistance.

Treatment	PR 11-20 (MPascal)
No-tillage	2.842a
Rt-Si	2.614ab
Rt-Sr	2.352b
Ct-Si	1.934c
Ct-Sr	1.761c

Table A2a. Total nitrogen content (N) in percentage, in the different treatments, P-value is <0.050. Mean value with different letters have significant differences. No-tillage has the highest N-content, followed by the reduced tillage treatments, the conventional tilled treatments have the lowest N-content.

Treatment	N (%)
No-tillage	0.233a
Rt-Si	0.188b
Rt-Sr	0.182b
Ct-Si	0.162c
Ct-Sr	0.160c

Table A2b. Mean value of total carbon content (C) in percentage, in the different treatments, P-value is <0.050. Mean value with different letters have significant differences. No-tillage has the highest carbon content, while treatment Ct-Sr has the lowest carbon content.

Treatment	C (%)
No-tillage	2.590a
Rt-Si	2.078b
Rt-Sr	2.015bc
Ct-Si	1.807cd
Ct-Sr	1.752d

Table A2c. Mean value of phosphorus content (P) in the different treatments, P-value is <0.050. Mean value with different letters have significant differences. No-tillage has the highest phosphorus content, while there is no significant difference in phosphorus content between treatments Rt-Sr, Rt-Si, Ct-Si and Ct-Sr.

Treatment	P (mg/kg)
No-tillage	587.406a
Rt-Sr	495.352b
Rt-Si	487.030b
Ct-Si	479.703b
Ct-Sr	471.739b

Table A3. Mean value of Log-transformed mg CO_2/h per 100 g soil (BR) in the different treatments. P-value is <0.050. Mean value with different letters have significant differences. There is no significant difference in basal respiration between the treatments Rt-Si, Rt-Sr and no-tillage, while the treatments Ct-Si and Ct-Sr have the lowest basal respiration.

Treatments	mg CO ₂ /h
Rt-Si	-1.334a
Rt-Sr	-1.405a
No-tillage	-1.410a
Ct-Si	-1.636b
Ct-Sr	-1.694b

Table A4a. Mean value of turbidity 1 (Tub 1) in the different treatments. P-value is <0.050. Mean value with different letters have statistical differences. No-tillage has the lowest turbidity, meaning that it has the highest aggregate stability. Treatments Ct-Sr and Ct-Si has the highest turbidity and the lowest aggregate stability.

Treatment	Tub 1 (NTU)
Ct-Sr	1812.444a
Ct-Si	1694.889a
Rt-Si	1094.278b
Rt-Sr	1070.722b
No-tillage	423.667c

Table A4b. Mean value of turbidity 2 (Tub 2) in the different treatments. P-value is <0.050. Mean value with different letters have statistical differences. No-tillage has the lowest turbidity, meaning that it has the highest aggregate stability. Treatments Ct-Sr and Ct-Si has the highest turbidity and the lowest aggregate stability.

Treatment	Tub 2 (NTU)
Ct-Sr	1045.500a
Ct-Si	1008.222a
Rt-Si	558.778b
Rt-Sr	535.278b
No-tillage	216.083c

Publishing and archiving

Approved students' theses at SLU are published electronically. As a student, you have the copyright to your own work and need to approve the electronic publishing. If you check the box for **YES**, the full text (pdf file) and metadata will be visible and searchable online. If you check the box for **NO**, only the metadata and the abstract will be visible and searchable online. Nevertheless, when the document is uploaded it will still be archived as a digital file. If you are more than one author, the checked box will be applied to all authors. You will find a link to SLU's publishing agreement here:

• <u>https://libanswers.slu.se/en/faq/228318</u>.

 \boxtimes YES, I/we hereby give permission to publish the present thesis in accordance with the SLU agreement regarding the transfer of the right to publish a work.

 \Box NO, I/we do not give permission to publish the present work. The work will still be archived and its metadata and abstract will be visible and searchable.